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0��3��� ��������� ���� �!�� ���	�������� ��������� ������	� �
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������	��������	�
������������	� ����������
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Application to ICT at cultural heritage sites 

It is becoming apparent that of the stated preference methodologies the contingent choice 
family of techniques could have a direct application to the study of ICT at cultural heritage 
sites.  Contingent choice is being increasingly used for the study of cultural heritage assets 
including ICT at those sites.  Although contingent choice has had less methodological study 
compared to contingent valuation it does seem to be a strong contender for the study of ICT. 

1.5 Benefit transfer  
Conducting primary valuation studies such as stated or revealed preference surveys can be 
both time-consuming and costly.  The benefit transfer methodology uses estimates of value 
derived from existing studies (‘source’ research) of similar sites and applies these values to a 
new study (‘target’ research) for which a monetary valuation is required.  Hence the valuations 
are ‘transferred’ from one study to another.  If appropriate adjustments are made, then the 
results of a previous study can be used to approximate the value of an impact.  Benefit transfer 
has been widely used in the field of environmental economics where a large number of 
applicable studies can be used for transfer1.  A number of different approaches are used in the 
application of benefit transfer (Bateman 2000 et al.).  These include value transfer and 
function transfer:

� Value transfer: is the transfer of a single value estimate or the average of a number of 
benefit estimates which can be either unadjusted or adjusted to the characteristics of the 
target site. 

� Function transfer: is the transfer of a demand function or benefit from a study site, or a 
meta-analysis which is a regression function derived from a number of source sites.  These 
functions are then adapted to fit the different characteristics of the target site. 

1.5.1 Unit value transfer 

Unadjusted unit value transfer 

The simplest methodology for benefit transfer is to assume that data can simply be transferred 
directly from one site and applied to another.  Rosenberger and Loomis (2001: 9-11) identify 
two methods used in unadjusted unit value transfer: 

� Single point value transfer: where values derived from a single source study (or ranges of 
value estimates from a number of studies) are transferred in an unadjusted form. 

� Average value transfer: where a measure of central tendency (mean) of all or subsets of 
relevant and applicable studies are transferred to the target site. 

This relies on the supposition that individuals at different sites have similar perceptions and 
values.  Obviously the transfer of mean unit values is methodologically weak, because 
individuals at one site may very well have different values compared to those at another.  
Differences in location, education, income, ethnic group, religion, or other socio-economic 
factors can all contribute to these.   

Adjusted unit value transfer 

The application of adjustments can increase the sophistication of the benefit transfer 
methodology.  It is apparent that there are two principal areas of weakness with the unadjusted 
unit value transfer methodology: the quality of the analysis of the original dataset, and the 
differences between conditions at the data source and the new site.  There have been 
continuous advances in the quality of revealed and stated preference methodologies which has 

1 For example, the EVRI (Environmental Valuation Reference Inventory) is an international database of economic 
studies of environmental benefits and health impacts.  It has been specially developed in order to allow policy 
analysts to use the benefits transfer technique as an alternative to doing original valuation research (www.evri.ca ).  
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under private ownership have a greater profit motivation than sites in public ownership there is 
a trend towards this scenario that cannot be ignored. 

Location: Location is paramount for the impact of a cultural heritage site.  The location 
determines factors such as accessibility to transport networks, proximity to population centres 
links with other potential attractions.  Surprisingly, location can be a dynamic entity.  
Although cultural heritage sites are fixed entities within the landscape or urban fabric the 
significance of the surrounding locality can change over time.  A rundown part of an urban 
centre can become a popular tourist zone increasing the potential of the heritage sites within 
that area (such as the Gothic quarter – Barri Gòtic – in Barcelona, preserved through neglect 
and now one of the principal tourist magnets in the city).  Alternatively, the creation of new 
transport links such as low cost airline routes, or motorway and train-links can radically 
change the accessibility of a heritage site. 

Quality:  The quality of a heritage site or experience can be determined by a number of factors 
such as the level of preservation, which lies outside the scope of the heritage site, however, 
site maintenance, level of restoration and visitor facilities tend to fall within the potential 
control of a site, finance depending, as can the actual or perceived authenticity of the site (see 
Gouthro: this volume). 

Significance: The significance and importance of a site is a difficult entity to define.  Sites 
have significance at multiple levels such as local, aesthetic, regional, and national.  Of course, 
as with so many elements of the dynamic impact context the significance of cultural heritage 
sites is not a static element, it can change over time.  It can change because of changes in the 
political system, technology, etc.  Even at a single point in time a site may hold alternative 
significance to different elements of the population – this can determine who visits a particular 
site.  For example, in Wales the World Heritage site at Caernarfon Castle is seen by many as a 
well preserved example of a castle from the reign of Edward I, but is dismissed by many 
Welsh as a symbol of English oppression.  The post-World War II cultural heritage from 
Eastern Europe is seen by many from the old Communist Bloc countries as symbols of 
Communist oppression and is being rapidly destroyed and erased from the cultural landscape.  
To many academics especially, this rapidly vanishing heritage is an important historical 
resource that requires preservation. 

Scale: Scale can act as a guide to the potential impact of a cultural heritage site (although, no 
more than a guide).  Larger sites have the potential to induce a greater impact than smaller 
sites, because of their ability to support a greater throughput of visitors, sustain larger potential 
capital costs, higher staff requirements and other running costs.  Of course, concentrations of 
smaller heritage sites can have a similar effect. 

These factors have a strong influence on the site – and feed into the management decision-
making context.  Furthermore, it is argued that contextual factors are immensely important 
determinants of the socio-economic impact of heritage sites.  Placing a heritage site in context 
will guide what impacts that should be evaluated.  For instance, there would be little point in 
doing a full, and often costly, economic impact analysis of a small museum based in a large 
city that was designed to serve the local community and foster local cultural identity.  In such 
a context impact assessment should be aimed at issues of community integration and social 
inclusion, etc. 

In the dynamic model there is the potential for sites at the micro-contextual level to have some 
influence over the ‘impact context’.  Cultural heritage sites have a greater potential to 
influence and have an impact on the micro context compared to the macro context.  Some 
heritage sites can make a (sometimes significant) contribution to the local economy through 
increased visitor numbers, capital expenditures, or brand value.   

3.2.2 Mission and objectives 

The mission can be thought of as a heritage site’s overriding purpose.  It is an expression of its 
raison d’etre.  This can include: 

.
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It has been specially developed in order to allow policy analysts to use the benefits 
transfer technique as an alternative to doing original valuation research (www.evri.ca). 

Existence value   

A non-use value in which individuals place a value on the protection of the existence of 
the actual resource. 

Free riding 

In the context of group performance, where all the group members receive equal reward 
(such as access to a service or pay) and it is difficult to ascertain the actual contribution 
of individuals to the performance of the group, then it is rational for group members who 
can get away with it let other individuals do most the work, or free ride. 

FTE

Full Time Equivalent employees.  Statistics for total employment often include part-tine 
workers; these can be converted to FTEs in order to enable effective comparisons.  

GDP

Gross Domestic Product.  A measure of the total output produced in a given period.  
GDP is equivalent to total income and total expenditure. 

Hedonic pricing method   

A revealed preference methodology that uses a parallel market (usually the property 
market) to determine the value of non-market benefits. The technique is based on the 
hypothesis that the value of property is related to the non-market benefits in the locality. 

Hedonic property value method  

HPV is a specific application of the hedonic pricing method. Because property is the 
principal parallel market used in hedonic pricing studies the term is usually used 
synonymously with the hedonic pricing method. 

ICA 

International Council on Archives. Founded in Paris in 1948 the mission of the ICA is to 
promote the preservation and use of archives around the world. The ICA works for “the 
protection and enhancement of the memory of the world and to improve communication 
while respecting cultural diversity” (www.ica.org).

ICBS

International Committee of the Blue Shield. A joint initiative of the ICA, ICOM, 
ICOMOS, and the IFLA. Started in 1996 to provide authorities with expertise in the 
event of conflict affecting cultural heritage sites (www.ifla.org/blueshield.htm). 

ICCROM

The International Centre for the Study of the Preservation and Restoration of Cultural 
Property.  ICCROM is an intergovernmental organization, established in Rome in 1959 
to improve the quality of conservation practice as well as raising awareness about the 
importance of preserving cultural heritage. The ICCROM acronym refers to the 
International Centre for Conservation in ROMe (www.iccrom.org).

ICOM   

International Council On Museums. Created in 1946, ICOM is an international 
organisation of museums and museum professionals which is committed to the 
conservation and communication to society of the world’s natural and cultural heritage. 
It is a non-governmental organisation maintaining formal relations with UNESCO and 
having a consultative status with the United Nations’ Economic and Social Council 
(www.icom.museum).
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ICOMOS  

International Council On Monuments and Sites.  Founded in 1965, ICOMOS is an 
international, non-governmental organization dedicated to the conservation of the 
world’s historic monuments and sites. ICOMOS is UNESCO’s principal advisor in 
matters concerning the conservation and protection of monuments and sites 
(www.icomos.org).

IFLA 

International Federation of Library Associations and Institutions. Founded in 1927, in 
Edinburgh, Scotland, the IFLA is the principal international body representing the 
interests of library and information services and their users (www.ifla.org).

IMLS

Institute of Museum and Library Services. Created in 1996 by the ‘Museum and Library 
Services Act’, the IMLS is an independent US federal agency that fosters leadership, 
innovation, and lifelong learning through support of the nation’s museums and libraries 
(www.imls.gov).

Indirect valuation methods  

Methodologies that are based on the observation of behaviour in order to determine the 
willingness to pay for non-market goods or services. 

Intangible heritage 

The traditional forms of expression of many societies. These can include; languages, 
music and song, rites and beliefs, the performing arts, oral traditions, festive events, and 
even culinary traditions. Many of these are threatened by a trend towards cultural 
uniformity in contemporary society.  

Market   

A context where goods and services are purchased and sold. 

MARS 

Monuments At Risk Survey. Commissioned by English Heritage, in the UK and 
originally published in 1995, the survey catalogued threats to ancient monuments in the 
UK.

MCN

Museum Computer Network. Based in the US, the MCN is a non-profit organisation of 
professionals devoted to supporting the cultural aims of museums through the use of 
computer technologies (www.mcn.edu).

MLA 

The Museums, Libraries and Archives Council. The MLA was launched in April 2000 
and is the UK’s strategic body representing museums, archives, and libraries. The new 
institution replaces the Museums and Galleries Commission and the Library and 
Information Commission (www.mla.gov.uk ). 

Moveable cultural heritage 

A vast range of non-fixed cultural heritage items such as paintings, sculptures, ancient 
jewellery, grave-goods, sacred art, sculpted stone, and all kinds of works of ancient art. 

Multiplier 

The knock-on effects of an expenditure injection into an economy.  

Museum 

An institution that is open to the public, which acquires, conserves, communicates, 
researches, and exhibits, for purposes of study, education and enjoyment, material 
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evidence of people and their environment. Museum collections now constitute a 
significant part of the cultural heritage.

National Archives 

The National Archives of the United Kingdom was formed in April 2003 with the 
amalgamation of the Public Record Office and the Historical Manuscripts Commission.  
Its primary responsibilities are the records of central government and the courts of law 
(www.nationalarchives.gov.uk).

National Trust 

Founded in the UK by three Victorian philanthropists in 1895 to protect places of 
historic interest and natural beauty for the nation. The National Trust is now the largest 
conservation charity in Europe (www.nationaltrust.org.uk).

NEMO

Network of European Museum Organisations. This is an independent network 
representing the European museum community. NEMO provides information to 
museums on relevant European Union initiatives, key legislative policy and funding 
concerning cultural heritage (www.ne-mo.org).

NOAA  

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. A US federal agency under the 
Department of Commerce responsible for weather monitoring and warnings 
(www.noaa.gov).

Non-exclusive 

These are goods where a user cannot be stopped from ‘consuming’ that good. Public 
goods fall into the category of being both non-exclusive and non-rival. 

Non-market goods  

Goods which have no market and no market price. Sometimes called non-monetary 
goods.

Non-market values  

Benefits obtained by individuals without paying money to acquire them. These are often 
personal values that are not captured in traditional economic markets. Their value is 
usually estimated through survey techniques such as contingent valuation and choice. 

Non-rival 

Goods where the quality of consumption by one user is not reduced by other users 
enjoying it simultaneously. Public goods fall into the category of being both non-rival 
and non-exclusive. 

Non-use value 

The value placed on a site by individuals that do not use the site or intend to use the site 
in the future. Non-use values include existence, bequest, prestige, and altruistic values.  
Also known as passive-use value. 

Open ended contingent valuation  

A contingent valuation technique where individuals are asked how much they would pay 
for a particular cultural good. 

Opportunity cost

The theoretical sacrifice that is made when resources are allocated to one specific project 
and so cannot be used for other projects. 
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SPAB 

The Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings. Founded by William Morris in 1877 
to address the destructive ‘restoration’ of medieval buildings in the UK. Today it is the 
oldest national pressure group fighting to save old buildings from decay, demolition, and 
damage (www.spab.org.uk).

Stakeholder analysis 

The process through which the groups and individuals (stakeholders) who may be 
affected by a change are identified, and their gains and losses are quantified. 

Starting point bias 

The issue in valuation studies when an individual’s stated value is influenced by the 
starting bid. 

Stated preference  

A number of demand theory methodologies that are based on how consumers say they 
would react to changes in price. 

SWOT analysis 

This is an analysis of the internal and external environment of an organisation for 
strategic planning purposes. Internal factors are classified as strengths (S) and 
weaknesses (W), while factors external to the organisation are classified as opportunities 
(O) and threats (T). The SWOT matrix created can be used as the basis for strategy 
formulation.  

TCM

See Travel cost method.

TCO

See Total cost of ownership.

TEV

See Total economic value.

TICCIH

The International Committee for the Conservation of the Industrial Heritage. An 
organisation dedicated to the promotion, preservation, conservation, investigation, 
documentation, research, and interpretation of the world’s industrial heritage 
(www.mnactec.com/TICCIH).

Total Cost of Ownership 

This is the sum of all the costs associated with an item over its lifecycle. These costs 
include acquisition, installation, licensing, running costs, maintenance and sometimes 
even disposal. TCO is widely used in the business world for expensive capital items.  
TCO is sometimes referred to as Cost Of Ownership (COO).   

Total Economic Value  

The total of direct and indirect use values, option values, and existence values. 

Travel Cost Method 

A revealed preference valuation methodology that is based on the hypothesis that the 
travel costs an individual incurs in order to visit a cultural heritage site are related to the 
value of the non-market benefits of the site.   

Urban heritage 

The heritage of urban areas and its accumulation over time, including the history of its 
buildings, streets, districts, and residents. 
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